
 
 

NELSON COUNTY BROADBAND AUTHORITY 
P.O. Box 336 • Lovingston, VA 22949·434-263-7000· Fax 434-263-7004 

 
 

MEMBERS          OFFICERS 
 
Thomas H. Bruguiere, Jr.                     Amanda B. Spivey, Secretary 
Jesse N. Rutherford         Linda K. Staton, Treasurer 
Thomas D. Harvey 
Larry D. Saunders 
Gary W. Strong 
                         

 
 

 
AGENDA 

NELSON COUNTY BROADBAND AUTHORITY 
DECEMBER 12, 2023 

THE MEETING CONVENES AT 1:00 P.M. 
IN THE GENERAL DISTRICT COURTROOM 

OF THE COURTHOUSE IN LOVINGSTON, VIRGINIA 
 
 
 

I. Call to Order 
 
II. Public Comments 
 
III. Consent Agenda 
 A.  Resolution – R2023-04 Minutes for Approval 
 
IV. Presentation 

A.  Firefly Fiber Broadband Progress Update 
 
V. New/Unfinished Business 
 A.  Treasurer’s Report 
 B.  Dissolution & Termination of NCBA (R2023-03 tabled from June 13, 2023 NCBA meeting) 
 
VI. Other Business (As May Be Presented) 
  
VII. Adjournment 

 
 
 
 



NELSON COUNTY BROADBAND AUTHORITY 
P.O. Box 336 • Lovingston, VA 22949·434-263-7000· Fax 434-263-7004 

MEMBERS OFFICERS 

Thomas H. Bruguiere, Jr.  Amanda B. Spivey, Secretary 
Jesse N. Rutherford Linda K. Staton, Treasurer 
Thomas D. Harvey 
Larry D. Saunders 
Gary W. Strong 

RESOLUTION R2023-04 
NELSON COUNTY BROADBAND AUTHORITY 

APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES 
(June 13, 2023) 

RESOLVED, by the Nelson County Broadband Authority that the minutes of said Authority meeting 
conducted on June 13, 2023 be and hereby are approved and authorized for entry into the official record of the 
Broadband Authority meetings. 

Approved: December 12, 2023  Attest:_________________________, Secretary
Nelson County Broadband Authority  

III A



June 13, 2023 

1 

Virginia: 

AT A REGULAR MEETING of the Nelson County Broadband Authority Board at 1:00 p.m. in the 
General District Courtroom located on the third floor of the Nelson County Courthouse, Lovingston, 
Virginia. 

Present:  Gary W. Strong, Central District – Chair  
Jesse N. Rutherford, East District – Vice Chair 
Larry D. Saunders – South District 
Thomas H. Bruguiere, Jr. – West District 
Candice W. McGarry, County Administrator, Treasurer 
Amanda B. Spivey, Secretary 
Linda K. Staton, Director of Finance and Human Resources 

Absent:  Thomas D. Harvey – North District 

I. CALL TO ORDER

Mr. Strong called the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m. with four (4) members present to establish a quorum 
and Mr. Harvey were absent.   

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS

There were no persons present to speak under public comments.  

III. CONSENT AGENDA

Mr. Rutherford moved to approve the Consent Agenda as presented and Mr. Saunders seconded the motion. 
There being no further discussion, Members voted to approve the motion, with Mr. Bruguiere abstaining 
from the vote, and the following resolution was adopted: 

A. Resolution – R2023-02 Minutes for Approval

RESOLUTION R2023-02 
NELSON COUNTY BROADBAND AUTHORITY 

APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES 
(January 10, 2023) 

RESOLVED, by the Nelson County Broadband Authority that the minutes of said Authority meeting 
conducted on January 10, 2023 be and hereby are approved and authorized for entry into the official record 
of the Broadband Authority meetings. 

IV. PRESENTATION
A. Firefly Fiber Broadband Progress Update



June 13, 2023 

2 

Mr. Gary Wood of CVEC and Firefly was present and he introduced Melissa Gay as the Communications 
and Member Services Manager at Central Virginia Electric Cooperative (CVEC).  He noted that she also 
did the Communications and Public Relations work for Firefly.    

Mr. Wood provided a quick snapshot of Firefly’s progress.  He reported that they were actively connecting 
anyone who was signing up for service in the areas already completed for CVEC (Colleen, Gladstone, 
Martin’s Store, Midway, and Wintergreen). He noted that about 50 CVEC customers in Massies Mill were 
waiting for service, and around 100 CVEC customers in Schuyler were also waiting to be connected.   

Mr. Wood then reported on progress in Appalachian Power areas (APCo).  He noted that they had just 
completed the Wilson Hill Road fiber build, and he commented that splicing was nearly complete and 
connections were starting.  He then noted that Arrington construction was finished and they were still 
making connections.  He reported that the southernmost part of Phoenix Road was still waiting on some 
make ready work by ApCo that should be completed within the next month or so, and they would then be 
able to get the fiber in.   

Mr. Wood commented that Shipman down to Hunting Lodge Road and Glade Road was initially reported 
complete by ApCo, but a few work orders had been left off and they had come back to finish work in a few 
locations.  He reported that they still had some work to do there in Shipman before final connections could 
take place.  He estimated that there were about 80 customers in that area waiting to be connected.   

Mr. Wood reported that in the Buffalo Mines/Harewood area, construction was complete and connections 
were starting that week.  He noted that the connections in the Findlay Mountain/Williamstown/Cedar Creek 
areas would be finishing up within the next few weeks.  He commented that there were about 25 to 30 
connections left to make.  Mr. Wood also reported that there were a few folks left in the APCo area of 
Lovingston that they were working on.  He indicated that the AEP area of Massies Mill to Pharsalia area 
would be finished up around the same time as the CVEC area there.   

Mr. Wood then reported that a large part of Rockfish to Schuyler was finished.  He noted that in the 
Roseland area (Dark Hollow/Roseland Road and back towards Cow Hollow/Henderson’s Store), 
construction was complete and they were making final connections.   

Mr. Wood reported that construction was complete on Taylor Creek Road, with about half of the pre-
registered homes already connected.  He estimated that about 30 homes along Taylor Creek Road had pre-
registered.   He then noted that the section of AEP area that comes from Temperance into the Piney River 
area had some people on the Nelson side of the river.  He reported that they had starting making connections 
in that area and had about 100 connections total in the area, with 50 or so being in Nelson.   

Mr. Wood commented that in total, they had about 850 people waiting for connection, that had pre-
registered with Firefly.  He noted that most of those people were in areas where they just needed to make 
final connections, with the few areas previously mentioned that needed a little construction work.  He 
reported that they had 5,250 live connections to homes, out of the 10,500 locations, which equated to about 
a 60 percent take rate in total.  He pointed out that the numbers did not include about 1,500 homes that had 
other providers for their internet service.   

Mr. Wood commented that when Firefly finished over the next few months into the fall, there should be 
close to 8,000 out of the 10,000 with fiber service in Nelson County.  Mr. Wood noted that Firefly would 
have all but about 1,500 of those customers as they were served by other providers.  He pointed out that 
Firefly service was available to those with other providers.   

Mr. Wood showed a map of the Firefly projects in the County. 



June 13, 2023 

3 

Mr. Wood noted that they had some construction to finish around Falling Rock and Phoenix Road.  He 
reported that they needed to finish construction at the end of Walkers Mountain subdivision.  He noted that 
CVEC served all of the homes in Walkers Mountain with the exception of about 8 to 10 homes at the end 
of the subdivision were served by ApCo.  He reported that they originally planned to drop the fiber from 
the last CVEC pole and go underground to serve the ApCo portion, but that plan was foiled when they were 
unable to obtain an easement.  He explained that ApCo ran the power across the tracks into Walkers 
Mountain from the Wilson Hill Road side, so they would now be going back and building on the ApCo 
power line.  He noted that they had applied for a railroad crossing permit and they were in process for that. 



June 13, 2023 

4 

He noted that connections were ongoing and they had been making connections along Roseland Road.  He 
commented that most of the people in Massies Mill were connected.   

Mr. Wood indicated that Dominion had started their fieldwork to build the northern piece in Afton for their 
middle mile.  He explained that Firefly would come off of Dominion’s lines, off of their fiber, which Firefly 
would lease from them, and Firefly would build the rest of their fiber to connect about 200 people in that 
area.   

Mr. Wood then showed a small area in Love that was served by Shenandoah Valley Electric Cooperative, 
which was about 25 homes in Nelson County.  He explained that Firefly would build underground off of 
the end of their system.  He noted that design work would start later in the year.  He noted that they hoped 
to have the Dominion and Shenandoah Valley customers connected by the end of next year (about 250 
customers).    

Mr. Strong commented on the 850 people expected to be connected and noted that the Broadband Authority 
was considering dissolution of the Authority.  He suggested that they may wait to dissolve until those 
connections were completed.  Mr. Wood noted that most of the connections left in Nelson County involved 
some underground work for installation.  He indicated that would require 811 markings and commented 
that the 811 contractors were struggling right now.  He noted that the delay had kept them from doing any 
more than 150 installs in the last two months.  Mr. Wood estimated that they would be looking at late 
summer into the fall to connect the 850 customers.  He commented that they would get everyone connected 
in the current year, as soon as they could, and if they found ways to expedite the process, they would.     

Mr. Strong commented that the Authority would probably need a December meeting to wrap things up.  
Mr. Rutherford asked what time frame would be needed to connect the remaining number of installations. 
Mr. Wood commented that it would be late summer or fall when they would have the last ones connected. 
He noted that the main places they were connecting people were currently in Nelson and Albemarle.  Mr. 
Bruguiere asked whether most of the fiber construction was complete.  Mr. Wood confirmed that they had 
very little construction left.  He reported that the Salem to Glade Road area had about 100 poles, which was 
an estimated 7 to 8 miles.  He noted that Phoenix Road had about 4 to 5 miles left and about a half mile at 
Falling Rock and another mile at Walkers Mountain.  He commented that there was a little bit of work here 
and there, and then the splicing, but the construction was mostly complete.   

Mr. Wood reported that so far, CVEC had spent $33 million in fiber in the County.  He noted that Firefly 
had spent another $8 million in the ApCo areas, bringing the total fiber cost in Nelson to $41 million.  Mr. 
Bruguiere commented that Firefly was ahead of the proposed time schedule.  Mr. Wood noted that they had 
said fiber for CVEC would be completed in 2023 and ApCo would be finished in 2024, but they would be 
finished up a year early.  He also pointed out that it was good that they had moved on the project while 
interest rates were lower.   

Mr. Wood noted on the CVEC side, they communicated directly to customers through Firefly and were 
wrapping up communications other than to notify people of their last chance to sign up for service.  He then 
explained that they worked with ApCo to provide some combined communications and Firefly did some 
direct communications to ApCo customers as well.    Ms. Melissa Gay noted that they wanted everyone to 
know about Firefly, and if that was their ISP (Internet Service Provider) of choice, that they had an 
opportunity to sign up while Firefly was working in the area.  She commented that it was very important to 
get people signed up while they were already working in the area.  She noted that it saved re-work and they 
could get the drop in and get people lined up for installation.   



June 13, 2023 

5 

Mr. Strong noted comments in Stoney Creek.  He was not sure if Firefly had been advertising much, because 
people in Stoney Creek were still on Nelson Cable.  He noted that people had commented that Nelson Cable 
was bad and they were asking when they could make the switch.  He thought they could make the switch 
any time.  Ms. Gay confirmed that they could make the switch to Firefly any time.  She reported that there 
had been a concerted effort to market to Wintergreen and Stoney Creek, as well as single family homes 
around Wintergreen.  Mr. Strong noted that people were concerned about not having cable service if they 
left Nelson Cable.  He indicated that he had suggested other streaming options like Hulu or YouTube.  He 
noted that people did not know about the streaming options available to them.   

Mr. Wood commented that they were considering sending out a last round of postcards to let people know 
it was their last chance to sign up without paying the $100 connection fee, which had been waived since 
Firefly had started.  He noted that they would be putting the connection fee in place once construction 
wrapped up on the CVEC side, and it would run into the fall for the ApCo areas.   

Mr. Strong commented on the excellent service from Firefly since making the switch.  He noted that it also 
allowed his local news stations through Hulu to come from Charlottesville which was also good.   

Ms. Gay commented that they now knew there was a digital literary piece needed to help people understand 
the programming available to them when they discontinue cable service and switch to fiber.  She noted that 
they were working on digital literary pieces to help people learn about safety and security online. She 
commented that there were lots of options for digital literacy for people of all ages.  Ms. Gay pointed out 
that part of their grant was digital literacy education.  She reported that they had a partnership with a local 
health provider to make sure their case workers have information about the ACP (Affordable Connectivity 
Program) discount that could help clients in Nelson County have internet service.  Mr. Wood explained that 
the Affordable Connectivity Program was a federal program that provided eligible persons $39.95 per 
month towards their service.  He noted that there was a broad range of people who qualified for the discount, 
from someone receiving free or reduced lunch, to former military.  He reported that they had a little less 
than 1,000 customers receiving the discount.   

Ms. Gay commented on the last chance reminders for free installation, noting that currently, for anyone 
who signed up for Firefly service received the drop built to their home, all of the equipment and hardware 
needed and installed, at no cost.  She noted that soon CVEC customers would be assessed a $100 installation 
fee, but they still would not have to pay any rental fees for the hardware.   

Ms. Gay reported that ApCo customers were invited to attend virtual town halls with Firefly to learn more 
about the process.  She noted that they had reached out to folks regarding last chance for free installation, 
but they wanted to provide one last chance before their crews moved out of the area.  Ms. Gay noted they 
were geo-targeting the service area on social media to market Firefly also.  She also noted that the website 
was updated regularly to reflect progress in each work area, as well as their online map. 

Mr. Wood commented that Firefly would like to hold a celebration event at some point once Nelson was 
completed.  He reported that the FCC had just published an updated broadband map for the entire nation. 
He noted in Virginia there were about 345,000 locations out of 2.5 million total locations, with fiber.  He 
commented that out of that 345,000, Firefly had 40,000 fiber hookups.  He noted that Nelson County had 
10,000 fiber hookups.   

Mr. Wood commented that Nelson, if not the best connected, it was one of the best connected counties in 
Virginia.  He noted that Floyd was close also.  He reported that most people had cable and not fiber.  Mr. 
Rutherford asked what the future capacity of the fiber was.  Mr. Wood commented that updating the fiber 
was pretty easy, they just needed to change out equipment in the hut and the home.   



June 13, 2023 

6 

Mr. Rutherford suggested encouraging contractors and developers to install conduit for future fiber 
installation.  Mr. Wood noted that they did a direct burial of the fiber, but CVEC’s engineering department 
was working on updating the standards on new applications that would require preparations for future fiber 
installation.   

Mr. Wood noted the cost for line extensions and indicated that CVEC had not been charging for those 
extensions to the homes.   

Mr. Bruguiere referred back to their discussion of tv networks and asked if it would be advantageous to 
have a workshop to show people how to work with the various options.  Ms. Gay understood the need to 
learn about the streaming option available as she also had to learn the process for her own home. She 
commented that was part of digital literacy.  She noted that they wanted to partner with the local libraries 
and community groups to teach digital literacy and show the various options for streaming.

Mr. Wood noted the need to put a program together.  He noted that grant funds had become available to put 
together learning labs, including building one in an RV to drive around and teach people about streaming 
options, setting up a Ring doorbell or connect a thermostat to the internet.  He noted they could also work 
with local libraries on program offerings.  Mr. Bruguiere commented that there were a lot of people who 
did not understand how it could work, noting that some of it was complicated.  Mr. Wood noted that there 
would still be a small demographic of people who would not make the switch to streaming and referenced 
his failed attempt to get his 91-year-old father to make the switch to YouTube TV.  He commented that 95 
percent of the people did want to learn about the streaming services available to them.  He also noted that 
there were some cost savings with streaming package options.  Mr. Strong also commented that people with 
a Verizon landline often did not know that they could opt for phone service with their Firefly service, or if 
they had a cell phone, utilize Wi-Fi calling.   

Mr. Wood noted that with the fiber throughout the County, it would soon be easier for cell phone companies 
to come in and move up to 5G service.  He expressed Firefly’s appreciation for the Broadband Authority’s 
support, as well as the County’s.  Mr. Strong thanked Mr. Wood and Ms. Gay for being present and he 
noted his interest in the digital literacy piece as well.  Ms. Gay commented that they would be learning from 
other cooperatives with subsidiaries and creating their own way based on the demographics of their 
customer base.   

Mr. Rutherford suggested revisiting the subject of termination of the Authority in December with the idea 
of termination happening the following June so the money would available for the new fiscal year to be 
considered by the Board of Supervisors for inclusion in the budget.  Mr. Strong was in agreement with Mr. 
Rutherford’s idea.   

V. NEW/UNFINISHED BUSINESS

A. FY24 Budget Approval

Ms. Staton introduced the Broadband budget.  She reported that they had a balanced budget proposed for 
FY24.  She commented that the budget total for Revenues and Expenditures was $273,612.  She noted it 
was $303 less than the previous year’s budget.  She explained that there was an increase in the Network 
Operator line due to an amendment to their contract with Wide Open Networks in February.  She noted 
that Wide Open Networks handled customer billing, collections, as well as payment deposits and 
reporting for broadband.  Ms. Staton explained that Wide Open Networks increased their monthly pricing 
from $300 per month to $550 per month.  She pointed out that the price had not increased since May of 
2020.  She noted that most other budget items were pretty much the same as before with a few minor 
changes.  She indicated that insurance increased by less than $50, and Utilities including locates increased 



June 13, 2023 

7 

by $1,000.  She noted that the offset for those increases was a reduction in contingency, rather than 
increasing the budget.    

Mr. Rutherford moved to approve the FY24 Broadband Authority budget as presented.  Mr. Bruguiere 
seconded the budget.  There being no further discussion, Members approved the motion unanimously (4-0) 
by roll call vote.   

B. Treasurer’s Report

Ms. Staton reviewed the following report: 



June 13, 2023 

8 

Ms. Staton pointed out that in the first six months of July through December, revenues exceeded 
expenditures by $51,225.72.  She noted that in the five months since then, revenues exceeded expenditures 
by $73,899.43.  She pointed out that the fiscal year was not yet finished as June had not been accounted 
for, but it was looking good.  She reported that the Account Receivable Aging Summary for Broadband 
Customers had everyone within 30 days.  She noted that the aging summary was at $3,787.50.    



June 13, 2023 

9 

C. County Administrator’s Report – Process to Dissolve and Terminate NCBA (R2023-03)

Ms. Strong advised Ms. McGarry that at least two members, possibly more, wished to wait until December 
to discuss termination of the Authority.  He suggested that Ms. McGarry could present the details, but the 
Authority would wait to take action at a later date.  Mr. Rutherford noted that they did not want to 
prematurely dissolve the Authority when there were still quite a few people who did not have fiber yet.  He 
thought keeping the Authority in operation sent a clear message that the Authority was committed to see 
the project through.  Mr. Strong agreed and noted that while there was not a lot that the Authority could do 
now, they were still between the clients to be served and the service provider, and they should stay there.   

Ms. McGarry noted her agreement with the course of action being discussed.  She reported that at the last 
Broadband meeting, staff was asked to gather information on what the termination process would look like. 
She noted that the Broadband packet included a memo with that background information along with the 
State Code Authority for dissolution and termination of the Authority (Code of Virginia §15.2-5431.9).    

Ms. McGarry reviewed the next steps for dissolution and termination of the Authority.  She noted that the 
Nelson County Broadband Authority (NCBA) would first adopt a resolution declaring and finding that the 
Authority should be dissolved pursuant to §15.2-5431.9 and file it with the Nelson County Board of 
Supervisors.  She explained that the Nelson County Board of Supervisors would then consider said 
resolution, and if the Board concurred, it would adopt a resolution of concurrence, finding that the Authority 
should be dissolved.  She then noted that if the Board adopted said resolution dissolving the Authority, the 
appropriate Articles of Dissolution would be filed with the State Corporation Commission (SCC) by legal 
counsel.  She further noted that distribution of assets and assignment of Authority contracts to the County 
would be completed and the governing bodies’ legal counsel would file articles of termination of corporate 
existence with the SCC.   

Ms. McGarry noted that she had provided the NCBA members with a copy of §15.2-5431.9, along with a 
draft NCBA Resolution recommending dissolution, a preliminary listing of current NCBA contracts and 
assets, the lease agreement between the County and NCBA, the Board resolution (R2009-52) from 2009 
that established the NCBA Articles of Incorporation (also provided), and the State Corporation Commission 
NCBA Certificate of Incorporation.   

Mr. Rutherford made a motion to table the discussion of Resolution R2023-03 dissolving and terminating 
the NCBA until the next regular Broadband meeting.  Mr. Saunders seconded the motion.  There being no 
further discussion, Members unanimously approved the motion (4-0) by roll call vote.   

Ms. McGarry had no further items to report. 

VI. OTHER BUSINESS (AS MAY BE PRESENTED)

The Authority had no further business to discuss.  

VII. ADJOURNMENT

At 1:50 p.m., Mr. Rutherford made a motion to adjourn the meeting and Mr. Saunders seconded the motion. 
There being no further discussion, members approved the motion by vote of acclamation and the meeting 
adjourned.   



V A

















NELSON COUNTY BROADBAND AUTHORITY 
P.O. Box 336 • Lovingston, VA 22949·434-263-7000· Fax 434-263-7004 

MEMBERS OFFICERS 

Thomas H. Bruguiere, Jr.  Amanda B. Spivey, Secretary 
Jesse N. Rutherford Linda K. Staton, Treasurer 
Thomas D. Harvey 
Larry D. Saunders 
Gary W. Strong 

Nelson County Broadband Authority June 13, 2023 
Memo 

RE: Agenda Item V C: Dissolution and Termination of the Authority 

Background: At the last regular meeting of the Authority, members asked staff to report back at the next 
meeting on steps required in dissolving/terminating the Nelson County Broadband Authority. This 
discussion and directive evolved from the Authority’s recognition that nearly 100% of County residents and 
businesses would have access to high speed fiber internet in the immediate future. The Authority members 
suggested that once the CVSI/Firefly Internet Broadband fiber network build out was complete, providing 
universal fiber network coverage and access within the County; so was the mission and purpose of the 
Broadband Authority. 

State Code Authority: Code of Virginia §15.2-5431.9 Dissolution and termination of Authority 

Next Steps:  

1. NCBA adopts a resolution declaring and finding that the authority should be dissolved pursuant to
§15.2-5431.9 and files it with the Nelson County Board of Supervisors.

2. The Nelson County Board of Supervisors considers said resolution and if concurs, adopts a resolution
of concurrence, finding that the Authority should be dissolved.

3. If the Board of Supervisors adopts said resolution dissolving the Authority, the appropriate Articles
of Dissolution are filed with the State Corporation Commission (SCC) by legal counsel.

4. Distribution of assets and assignment of Authority contracts to the County are completed and the
governing bodies’ legal counsel files articles of termination of corporate existence with the SCC.

NCBA Consideration: Status of the mission and purpose of the Authority and consideration of draft 
resolution R2023-03, Dissolution and Termination of the Nelson County Broadband Authority.  

Attachments:  State Code Section 15.2-5431.9 
Draft NCBA Resolution R2023-03 
Preliminary Listing of Current NCBA Contracts and Assets
Lease Agreement Between County and NCBA  
BOS Resolution R2009-52 and Attached NCBA Articles of Incorporation 
State Corporation Commission NCBA Certificate of Incorporation 

V B



Code of Virginia 
Title 15.2. Counties, Cities and Towns 
Subtitle IV. Other Governmental Entities 
Chapter 54.1. Virginia Wireless Service Authorities Act

§ 15.2-5431.9. Dissolution and termination of authority
A. Whenever the board of an authority determines that the purposes for which it was created
have been completed or are impractical or impossible and that all its obligations have been paid
or have been assumed by one or more of such political subdivisions or any authority created
thereby or that cash or United States government securities have been deposited for their
payment, it shall adopt and file with the governing body a resolution declaring such facts. If the
governing body adopts a resolution concurring in such declaration and finding that the authority
should be dissolved, it shall file appropriate articles of dissolution with the State Corporation
Commission. When the affairs of the authority have been wound up and all of its assets have
been distributed, the governing bodies shall file appropriate articles of termination of corporate
existence with the State Corporation Commission.

B. If any of the governing bodies refuses to adopt a resolution concurring in such declaration,
then the authority may petition the circuit court for any locality that is a member of the authority
to order one or more of such governing bodies to create a new authority. The circuit court may
order the governing body of the political subdivision requesting dissolution of the existing
authority to adopt an ordinance establishing a new authority to which the provisions of §§ 15.2-
5431.3 through 15.2-5431.6 shall not apply. Thereafter, the court may order that the assets be
divided among the authorities and, subject to the approval of any debt holder, require the
assumption of a proportionate share of the obligations of the existing authority by the new
authority.

C. Notwithstanding the provisions of subdivision 1 of § 15.2-5431.11, an authority shall continue
in existence and shall not be dissolved because the term for which it was created, including any
extensions thereof, has expired, unless all of such authority's functions have been taken over and
its obligations have been paid or have been assumed by one or more political subdivisions or by
an authority created thereby, or cash or United States government securities have been deposited
for their payment.

2003, c. 643;2021, Sp. Sess. I, c. 487.

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this
section(s) may not constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters
whose provisions have expired.

1 5/31/2023 12:00:00 AM

/vacode/15.2-5431.3/
/vacode/15.2-5431.3/
/vacode/15.2-5431.6/
/vacode/15.2-5431.11/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?031+ful+CHAP0643
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?031+ful+CHAP0643
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?212+ful+CHAP0487


NELSON COUNTY BROADBAND AUTHORITY 
P.O. Box 336 • Lovingston, VA 22949·434-263-7000· Fax 434-263-7004 

MEMBERS OFFICERS 

Thomas H. Bruguiere, Jr.  Amanda B. Spivey, Secretary 
Jesse N. Rutherford Linda K. Staton, Treasurer 
Thomas D. Harvey 
Larry D. Saunders 
Gary W. Strong 

DEFERRED
RESOLUTION-R2023-03 

NELSON COUNTY BROADBAND AUTHORITY 
RESOLUTION DECLARING THE PURPOSE OF THE NELSON COUNTY BROADBAND AUTHORITY COMPLETE 

AND RECOMMENDING DISSOLUTION AND TERMINATION OF THE AUTHORITY 

WHEREAS, on June 9, 2009, via Resolution R2009-52, the Nelson County Board of Supervisors adopted 
Articles of Incorporation of the Nelson County Broadband Authority (NCBA) which were filed with and 
certified by the State Corporation Commission (SCC) establishing the NCBA effective July 29, 2009; and 

WHEREAS, the NCBA was established for economic development purposes to provide high speed data 
service and internet access service to local businesses, local government, and the public; and 

WHEREAS, the NCBA, in partnership with the Board of Supervisors and Central Virginia Services, Inc./ dba 
Firefly Internet Broadband, has facilitated the build-out of a high speed fiber internet network that 
provides access to high speed fiber internet for nearly 100% of the County’s businesses and residents; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Code of Virginia, §15.2-5431.9, the Nelson County Broadband Authority has 
determined that the purposes for which it was created have been completed and all of its obligations can 
easily and readily be assumed by the County of Nelson; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, the Nelson County Broadband Authority, hereby directs that this 
resolution be filed with the Nelson County Board of Supervisors and requests the Board’s consideration of 
the adoption of a concurring resolution and subsequent filing of Articles of Dissolution with the State 
Corporation Commission and finally, upon conclusion of the Authority’s affairs, filing of Articles of 
Termination of corporate existence with the SCC.  

Adopted: _________________, 2023  Attest:_________________________, Secretary 
Nelson County Broadband Authority 



1 of 1 

Nelson County Broadband Authority 
Preliminary Contract and Asset List 

June 1, 2023 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Revenue Contracts 

1. AT&T Tower Lease
2. AT&T Tower Lease
3. Verizon Tower Lease
4. RiverStreet Networks Tower Lease
5. Mid-Atlantic Broadband Communities Corporation Fiber Lease
6. Mid-Atlantic Broadband Communities Corporation Colocation Lease
7. Segra Colocation Lease
8. Nelson County Department of Social Services Network Access Lease

Expenditure Contracts 

1. WideOpen Networks Professional Services Contract (Billing)
2. Rockfish Valley Volunteer Fire Department Tower Site Lease
3. VACorp Insurance Coverage

County-Owned Assets Leased to NCBA (Agreement Dated October 30, 2012) 

1. Martin’s Store tower site: 140 ft. monopole tower, site fencing, Trango
antenna, paved tower access road.

2. Rockfish Valley Volunteer Fire Department tower site: 140 ft. monopole
tower and site fencing.

3. Massies Mill tower site: 110 ft. monopole tower and Trango antenna.
4. Courthouse tower site: Courthouse tower, fencing, shelter, and equipment.

Other NCBA Assets 

1. Operating Bank Account
















	Agenda for December 12, 2023 NCBA Meeting
	III A (1) Resolution R2023-04 Minutes for Approval
	III A (2) Draft Minutes June 13 2023 NCBA
	V A Treasurer's Report
	V B (1) NCBA Dissolution
	Memo RE Dissolution and Termination of the Authority
	15.2-5431.9 Dissolution and termination of authority (NCBA)
	Resolution R2023-XX Dissolution and Termination of the Authority
	Resolution Establishing Broadband Authority and Articles of Incorporation
	Broadband Authority - SCC Certificate of Incorporation




